In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

DAPHNE WILLIAMS,

Defendant-Appellant,

vs.

CHARLES "RANDY" LAZER,

Plaintiff-Respondent.

Jun 01 2020 06:41 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Supreme Court No. 80350

Electronically Filed

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada

District Court Case No. A-19-797156-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marc J. Randazza (NV Bar No. 12265) Alex J. Shepard (NV Bar No. 13582) RANDAZZA LEGAL GROUP, PLLC 2764 Lake Sahara Drive, Suite 109 Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 Telephone: 702-420-2001 Facsimile: 702-297-6584 ecf@randazza.com Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On June 21, 2019, Respondent, Charles "Randy" Lazer, filed a Complaint with the District Court against Appellant Daphne Williams. (See Volume I of Appellant's Appendix ("AA") at 1–69.)¹ Ms. Williams filed an NRS 41.660 Special Motion to Dismiss on August 9, 2019. (I-AA 70-118.) The District Court heard this Motion on September 11, 2019, and denied the motion without prejudice, notice of which order was entered on October 3, 2019. (I-AA 230–234.) Mr. Lazer then filed his First Amended Complaint on October 8, 2019. (I-AA 235–243.) Ms. Williams filed a Special Motion to Dismiss this amended complaint on October 22. 2019. (II-AA 244–266.) The District Court heard this motion on December 9, 2019, and denied the motion notice of which order was entered on December 20, 2019. (III-AA 574–608; 609–615.) Ms. Williams timely filed her Notice of Appeal of the December 20, 2019 order on December 26, 2019. (III-AA 616–621.)

Ms. Williams appeals the District Court's order denying her Special Motion to Dismiss under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute, NRS

Х

¹ For the Court's convenience, citations to Appellants' Appendix shall be cited as "[Vol. No.]-AA [Page No.]."

41.660, as to Mr. Lazer's First Amended Complaint. Pursuant to NRS 41.670(4), "[i]f the [district] court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court." Because the District Court denied Ms. Williams's Special Motion to Dismiss, the Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to the following:

(1) NRS 41.670(4), which states: "If the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."

(2) NRAP 17(a)(12), as the matter raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, namely, whether statements in a complaint made to the Nevada Real Estate Board, which results in an investigation and preliminary finding of violations, and where the subject of the investigation then appeals, is protected under Nevada's litigation privilege.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

There are three issues on appeal in this matter:

1. Whether a defendant who brings a Special Motion to Dismiss under NRS 41.660 satisfies her burden to show she made her statements in "good faith" under the statute when she provides declaration and documentary evidence showing she did not make any statement with knowledge of falsity, and the plaintiff provides no evidence showing the defendant made the statements with knowledge of falsity, but merely speculation and their own opinions.

2. Whether statements in a complaint to the Nevada Real Estate Board, which results in an investigation and preliminary finding of violations, and where the subject of the investigation then appeals, is protected under Nevada's litigation privilege.

3. Whether even if the statements are not privileged, if they are sufficient to sustain a complaint for defamation, as a matter of law, in light of the Anti-SLAPP law's requirements.

xii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a defamation case based on statements made in a complaint about a realtor to, and only to, an executive body tasked with disciplining realtors. The complaint consisted of true statements about Mr. Lazer or statements of subjective opinion about Mr. Lazer.

Mr. Lazer filed his initial Complaint on June 21, 2019, asserting claims against Ms. Williams for defamation, fraud, and extortion based on her complaint to the Nevada Real Estate Division ("NRED"). (See I-AA 1–69.) On August 9, 2019, Ms. Williams filed a Special Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint under NRS 41.660, Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute (the "Initial Anti-SLAPP Motion"). (See I-AA 70–118.) Her motion was supported by documentary evidence and a declaration in which she testified that her statements were true and she made them in good faith, as defined under NRS 41.637. Mr. Lazer opposed the motion, supported by a declaration from him and the Seller claiming that Ms. Williams's statements in the NRED complaint were false, but without providing any factual basis for the contention she made them knowledge of their falsity. (I-AA 119–203.)

The District Court held a hearing on the Initial Anti-SLAPP Motion on September 11, 2019. Notice of entry of the order denying the motion without prejudice was filed on October 3, 2019. (I-AA 230–234.) Mr. Lazer then filed his First Amended Complaint (the "FAC"), replacing the claims for fraud and extortion with claims for defamation, business disparagement, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and negligence. (I-AA 235–243.) Ms. Williams filed an Anti-SLAPP Motion as to the FAC on October 22, 2019 (the "Anti-SLAPP Motion"), attaching a more thorough declaration from Ms. Williams; ² a declaration from Ms. Williams's loan officer in the condo sale, Bryan Jolly; a declaration from Ms. Williams's mother; and numerous additional documents all showing that Ms. Williams's statements were made in good faith. (II-AA 244–438.) Mr. Lazer opposed with essentially the same opposition as to the first Anti-SLAPP Motion and provided only a supplemental declaration from Mr. Lazer raising new factual issues. (III-AA 439–535.)

 $\mathbf{2}$

² Truly, the first one was sufficient, but the second one was bolstered in order to remove all doubt.

The District Court held a hearing on the Anti-SLAPP Motion on December 9, 2019, again denying it without prejudice, notice of entry of which order was entered on December 20, 2019. (III-AA 609–615.) It found that it could not determine whether Ms. Williams made her statements in good faith, and could not determine that Ms. Williams's complaint to the NRED was protected by Nevada's absolute privilege for statements made in judicial or quasi-judicial proceedings. (III-AA 609– 615.) Williams filed notice of appeal on December 26, 2019. (III-AA 616–621.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2017, Mr. Lazer represented Ms. Williams's former landlord, Rosane Cardoso Ferreira, formerly Rosane Krupp ("Ferreira" or the "Seller"), in a transaction for the sale of a condominium unit; Ferreira was the seller, Ms. Williams was the buyer. (See II-AA 269, ¶4.) Ms. Williams is an African American woman. (See II-AA 268, ¶3.) On May 21, 2017, Ms. Williams signed a Residential Purchase Agreement ("RPA") for the sale of the condo. (See II-AA 277–290.) On August 23, 2017, Ms. Williams filed a Statement of Fact with the NRED (the "NRED Complaint") regarding Mr. Lazer's conduct during and after the condo sale. (See II-AA 273, ¶35; see also II-AA 292–296.) Mr. Lazer's Complaint is based on the allegation that several statements within the NRED Complaint are false.

1.0 Mr. Lazer's May 13, 2017 Statement, Which Ms. Williams Took as Biased in Nature.

On or around May 13, 2017, while taking pictures of the condo in question, Mr. Lazer told Ms. Williams "Daphne, I think you are going to be successful. When you become successful and you want to buy a bigger house and if your brother is retired by then, I'd be glad to be your realtor." (II-AA 269, ¶5.) In a vacuum, reasonable minds could

disagree as to the intent behind that statement. In fact, out of context, it would be hard for the undersigned to see sexism or racism in that statement. However, the undersigned has never walked an inch, much less a mile, in a Black woman's shoes. The best the undersigned can do is to empathize that statements that might seem meaningless to a White, privileged, attorney, just might seem dismissive, racist, or sexist to someone with a lifetime of different experiences behind her.

Ms. Williams considered the implications in this statement to be that she was not successful already, and was living off of her brother's income. Ms. Williams considered such assumptions to be biased. (*See* III-AA 269, ¶6.)

Mr. Lazer does not dispute that he said this. He only quarrels with Ms. Williams' *opinion* that it was racist, sexist, or unprofessional. (*See* I-AA 237, ¶24.) Was it intentionally biased? Was it unconsciously biased?³ Was it not biased at all? Was Ms. Williams simply overly-

³ One of the most unfortunate parts of this entire case is that Mr. Lazer may very well consider himself to be the least racist person in the world, yet could still express unconscious bias. Even highly educated attorneys clearly suffer from this ailment. This is why attorneys in some states, such as California, must take 1 hour of CLE on elimination of bias in the profession. California MCLE Rule 2.72(A)(2) (requiring

sensitive to bias? Even if she were hypersensitive and sees bias in the most innocent of situations, she has the right to *feel* any way that she may feel about it – and if in her opinion, it was biased, then no man has the right to tell her that her *opinion* is false.

2.0 Mr. Lazer's Disclosure of Confidential Information

Also on May 13, 2017, Mr. Lazer shared several pieces of personal information about the Seller with Ms. Williams that she did not previously know, including details about how he and the Seller met and the commission Mr. Lazer was charging for the transaction. (See II-AA 269, ¶¶7–8.) Ms. Williams understood that, as the Seller's realtor, Mr. Lazer had a duty to maintain confidentiality and that disclosing this information to Ms. Williams was unethical or, at the very least, unprofessional. (See II-AA 269, ¶9.) Mr. Lazer admits or does not dispute the majority of this, instead claiming he could disclose it. But this is merely a disagreement with Ms. Williams's non-actionable opinion.

attorneys to take "at least one hour dealing with the recognition of bias in the legal profession and society by reason of, but not limited to, sex, color, race, religion, ancestry, national origin, physical disability, age, or sexual orientation). Starting after January 2023, California attorneys will also be required to complete CLE hours on the subject of implicit bias. *See* California AB (Oct. 2, 2019).

Mr. Lazer only disputes that he told Ms. Williams he and the Seller met on an online dating web site. He does not dispute the other statements in the NRED complaint, that the Seller asked for his help in moving in January 2017 and that, when the Seller broke up with her last boyfriend, she contacted Mr. Lazer to help "move her things back from Tonopah to Las Vegas." (II-AA 293.) Ms. Williams contemporaneously called her mother, Kathryn Harris, and relayed these details of the conversation with her. (*See* II-AA 298–299, ¶¶3-4.)

Mr. Lazer admitted in his response to the NRED that he and the Seller were "very, very good and caring friends," and that he and the Seller lived together for several weeks. (*See* I-AA 315–317.) He claimed to the NRED that the Seller already provided this information to Ms. Williams prior to May 13, 2017, but he admitted to telling Ms. Williams this information. (*See* II-AA 317.) Ms. Williams was not aware of any authorization to share this information. (*See* II-AA 269, ¶9.)

3.0 Mr. Lazer's Admitted Practice of Contacting Appraisers Prior to Appraisal

At various points in 2017, Mr. Lazer informed Ms. Williams's loan officer that, in the course of his work as a real estate agent, he had contacted real estate appraisers and given them information to

influence their appraisal of property for which he was acting as a broker prior to these individuals conducting their appraisal. (*See* II-AA 269– 270 ¶11; *see also* II-AA 330–333.) Mr. Lazer admits he does this, and claims only that it is not unethical to do so. But this, again, is merely a disagreement with Ms. Williams's non-actionable opinion.

Prior to August 23, 2017 and after learning of this, Ms. Williams spoke with employees of the NRED regarding this practice, and they informed her real estate agents are not supposed to do this. (See II-AA 270, ¶12.) Upon learning this information, Ms. Williams subjectively considered Mr. Lazer's claimed practice of contacting real estate appraisers to be unethical and unprofessional. (See II-AA 270, ¶12.) Mr. Lazer admits that he engaged in this practice. (See I-AA 238, ¶26.) The only quarrel here is with Ms. Williams' subjective belief – informed by NRED employees' knowledge – that a realtor for a seller should not be working to influence an appraiser.

4.0 Ms. Williams Allowed Removal of Property from the Condo

Mr. Lazer claims that Ms. Williams lied when she told the NRED that Mr. Lazer falsely stated she did not allow the Seller's "movers" into the condo to remove the Seller's property. But Ms. Williams did allow

these people in, and the only remaining items of property are fixtures that were sold along with the condo.

During the course of the sale of the condo, Ms. Williams allowed multiple individuals to remove furniture from the condo at the Seller's request. (See II-AA 270, ¶13.) Mr. Lazer does not dispute that he claimed Ms. Williams did not allow movers into the condo. (See I-AA 238, ¶27.) Rather, Mr. Lazer claims that Ms. Williams lied in her complaint to the NRED because she did not allow unknown third parties unrestricted access to the condo to remove property. But that is not the assertion Ms. Williams relayed in her NRED complaint.

The reason Ms. Williams wanted to place restrictions on the ability of third parties to remove property from the condo is that Ms. Williams lives alone, and she did not want strangers coming to her residence any time they pleased. (See II-AA 270, ¶14.) Due to her work schedule, she also was not able to make herself available on short notice to coordinate the moving of furniture from the condo. (See II-AA 270, ¶15.) She informed Mr. Lazer of this in June 2017 when she explained her basis for not signing the proposed addendum to the RPA requiring her to grant undefined "reasonable access" to third parties to remove

property. (*See* II-AA 340–341.) Mr. Lazer admitted to the NRED that, regarding any property which Ms. Williams may have initially not allowed a third party to remove (at their convenience, as opposed to hers), she later allowed its removal at a time that worked for her. (*See* II-AA 312.)⁴

Mr. Lazer refers to unspecified items of the Seller's property that remain in the condo. (See I-AA 238, at ¶27.) These items are a wallmounted shelf and television bracket. (See II-AA 270, ¶16; II-AA 312, 318, 323–324.) It was and is Ms. Williams's understanding that these items constitute "fixtures" that were sold along with the condo and which Ms. Williams was not required to return to the Seller. (See II-AA 270, ¶16; see also II-AA 278, ¶4.)

5.0 Mr. Lazer Did Not Send a Fully Executed Contract to Ms. Williams

Mr. Lazer claims Ms. Williams lied by claiming that Mr. Lazer never sent her a fully executed copy of the RPA. But it is true that Mr. Lazer never sent her a fully executed copy signed by all the parties, and

⁴ Mr. Lazer was not personally involved in the removal of furniture or personal items from the condo, and thus does not have any first-hand knowledge on this subject. (*See* II-AA 270, $\P13$.)

because of this she did not receive such a copy until after the close of escrow. This statement is true.

On May 18, 2017, Mr. Lazer sent an email purportedly attaching a copy of the RPA with the Seller's signature. (See I-AA 238, ¶28.) Ms. Williams was unable to print this version of the RPA and sign it. (See II-AA 271, ¶17.) Because of this, she asked Mr. Lazer to meet her at a Whole Foods location with a printed version of the RPA that she could review and sign. (See II-AA 271, ¶18.) They met at a Whole Foods on May 21, 2017 and Ms. Williams signed the RPA at this time. (See II-AA 271, ¶18.) Mr. Lazer admits that this meeting took place. (III-AA 466, ¶3(c).)⁵ The copy that she signed did not have the Seller's signature on it, and she added additional terms to the RPA prior to signing it. (See II-AA 271, ¶18–19.)

Ms. Williams understood that, because she added additional terms to the RPA, Mr. Lazer would have to allow the Seller to review this version of the RPA before signing it. (See II-AA 271, \P 20.) During this

⁵ This admission is significant because Mr. Lazer's basis for claiming Ms. Williams lied in her NRED Complaint about not receiving a signed version of the RPA is that he emailed her a copy with the Seller's signature on May 18, 2017. He later admitted that this was not the final version. (III-AA 466, \P 3(c).)

meeting on May 21, Mr. Lazer told Ms. Williams he would send her a fully executed version of the RPA signed by all parties. (*See* II-AA 271, ¶20.) Mr. Lazer never sent Ms. Williams a fully executed copy of the RPA, nor did he tell her she should request a fully executed copy from a third party, such as her loan officer or a title company. (*See* II-AA 271, ¶20.) If she had received such an instruction she would have requested a copy of the fully executed RPA from a third party immediately. (*See* II-AA 271, ¶20.)⁶ Because Mr. Lazer did not send her a fully executed copy of the RPA,⁷ she did not receive one until requesting it from Ticor Title on July 31, 2017. (*See* II-AA 271, ¶21; *see also* II-AA 335.)

Mr. Lazer claimed that he had authorization from the Seller to accept changes to the RPA that Ms. Williams made "and use her already-existing signature as the binding signature." (III-AA 466, ¶3(d).) Mr. Lazer did not claim he told Ms. Williams of this alleged

⁶ Mr. Lazer sent a fully executed copy of the RPA to Ms. Williams's loan officer, Bryan Jolly, on May 23, 2017. (See II-AA 346, ¶17.) As a matter of professional practice, he assumed that Mr. Lazer had already sent the RPA to Ms. Williams and thus had no reason to forward it to Ms. Williams or inquire as to whether she had received it. (See id.)

⁷ Mr. Lazer additionally did not provide Ms. Williams with a receipt for earnest money paid pursuant to the RPA. (See II-AA 271, $\P22$.) Mr. Lazer admits this. (See I-AA 238–239, $\P29$.)

authorization, however, and she was not aware of it. (III-AA 570, $\P5$.) Mr. Lazer claimed Ms. Williams called him on May 22, 2017 and instructed him to send the fully-executed RPA to her lender, but this conversation never happened and Ms. Williams never gave this instruction. (III-AA 570, $\P6$.)

6.0 Ms. Williams was Not Responsible for Escrow Delays

Mr. Lazer claims Ms. Williams lied when she told the NRED that Mr. Lazer falsely claimed she was to blame for having to extend the close of escrow deadline multiple times. But Ms. Williams's statement was true, as Mr. Lazer's assertion on this point was, and is, false. Third parties, not Ms. Williams, were responsible for the delays in closing escrow, and Ms. Williams was extremely quick to make necessary payments and provide necessary documents.

One of the conditions for consummating the sale of the condo was the close of escrow, i.e., finalizing and confirming that Ms. Williams had secured financing for the purchase of the condo. This was initially scheduled to take place on June 30, 2017. (*See* II-AA 279, ¶5(C).)

The road to closing escrow involved several steps. First, Ms. Williams was not obligated to proceed with the purchase of the condo

unless the appraisal for the condo concluded it was worth an amount greater than or equal to the purchase price of \$86,000. (See II-AA 277, $\P1(G)$ and 278, $\P2(B)$.) The Seller was responsible for paying for the appraisal of the condo, and on May 30, 2017, Mr. Jolly sent Mr. Lazer a form for payment of the appraisal. (See II-AA 344, $\P9$ and II-AA 354.) At Mr. Lazer's request, Mr. Jolly then scheduled the appraisal of the condo as quickly as possible once the Seller paid for the appraisal. (See II-AA 344–345, $\P10$.) Due to scheduling issues with the appraiser, the appraisal did not take place until June 7, 2017. (See II-AA 272, $\P25$; see also II-AA 405; and see II-AA 344–345, $\P10$ and II-AA 359.) Mr. Jolly received the appraiser's report on June 9, 2017 and forwarded it to Mr. Lazer. (See II-AA 344–345, $\P10$ and II-AA 365.)

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