1	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641		
2	mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com		
3	mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com ADAM R. TRIPPIEDI, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 12294		
4	atrippiedi@bohnlawfirm.com BOHN & TRIPPIEDI 2260 Corporate Cir. Suita 480	Ele Ma	ctronically Filed r 08 2021 03:26 p.m.
5	2260 Corporate Cir, Suite 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX		zabeth A. Brown cart
6	Attorney for Respondent		The or Cupromo Court
7	SUPREME	COURT	
8	STATE OF N	EVADA	
9	DAPHNE WILLIAMS,	No. 80350	
10	Appellant,		
11	vs.		
12	CHARLES "RANDY" LAZER,		
13	Respondent.		
14	RESPONDENT'S AN	SWERING BRIEF	
15

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

II. ARGUMENT

1. Legal Standard for an Anti-SLAPP Motion.

Appellant's Anti-SLAPP Motion to Dismiss is a specific type of statutory

motion brought under NRS 41.635 et seq. Appellant alleges her NRED Statement of Fact cannot be the source of a defamation complaint because it is protected under the anti-SLAPP statute. However, Appellant cannot meet her burden to show she is entitled to statutory anti-SLAPP protections.

NRS 41.660(3) sets out the standards the district court shall evaluate in determining whether to grant an anti-SLAPP motion:

- 3. If a special motion to dismiss is filed pursuant to subsection 2, the court shall:
 - (a) Determine whether the moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern;
 - (b) If the court determines that the moving party has met the burden pursuant to paragraph (a), determine whether the Respondent has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim;

•••

(d) Consider such evidence, written or oral, by witnesses or affidavits, as may be material in making a determination pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b)....

Thus, an anti-SLAPP motion requires, in part, a two step analysis: <u>First</u>, to determine whether the movant has established by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based on a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern. Second, if the movant meets her burden, the next step is for the court to

determine whether the nonmovant has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on his claim.

Importantly, NRS 41.637 states that a "good faith communication" is one that is "truthful" or "made without knowledge of its falsehood." The burden is on the moving party, here, Appellant, to prove "by a preponderance of the evidence that her claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.660(3)(a). Appellant cannot meet this burden because she knew her statements were false when she made them. And even if Appellant can meet that burden, Respondent meets his burden under NRS 41.660(3)(b) to make a prima facie showing that he has a probability of prevailing on his claim.

2. The Court of Appeals Properly Found Appellant Failed to Meet Her Burden to Show She Made Her Statements in Good Faith.

Appellant cannot meet the requirements for anti-SLAPP relief against

Respondent because Appellant's submission to the Nevada Real Estate Commission

("NRED") was not made in good faith. As the district court twice ruled, and as the

Court of Appeals affirmed, there is insufficient proof Appellant made her NRED

Statement of Fact ("complaint") in good faith because Appellant was aware that her

statements to NRED were false when she made those statements.

Appellant makes various attacks against the Order of Affirmance, but all fail. First, as to the claim regarding Respondent's contact with the appraiser: The Court of Appeals cited to NRS 645C.557(3), which explicitly allows a person with an interest in a real estate transaction to make certain requests of an appraisal. This is not some internal ethical rule for real estate agents; it is a statute. Appellant cannot claim ignorance of the law as a defense. Appellant is presumed to know the law. Additionally, the Court of Appeals ruled Appellant did not make a sufficient showing of proof of her conversation with NRED. And the Court of Appeals cites to NRED's closing of the case without disciplining Respondent as proof that Respondent was entitled to speak with the appraiser. Finally, Appellant never raised the issue of Respondent's alleged improper contact with the appraiser prior to filing her NRED complaint, so this was not a vital issue for Appellant during the transaction itself, and Appellant went forward with the transaction through to closing. If Appellant truthfully believed Respondent's contact with the appraiser was unethical, it seems likely Appellant would have raised this issue during the transaction. The fact that she did not do so shows this was not a legitimate concern for Appellant. Certainly, the Court of Appeals was within reason to find, on these

¹Or, in the Latin translation, "ignorantia juris non excusat."

bases, that Appellant failed to meet her burden to show her statements regarding Respondent's contact with the appraiser were truthful or were made without knowledge of their falsehood.

Appellant also claimed in her NRED complaint that Respondent failed to provide Appellant with "a receipt for Appellant's earnest money." However, at page 8, footnote 5 of the Order of Affirmance the Court of Appeals stated Appellant, in her appeal briefs, did "not address her claim that Lazer was ethically obligated to provide a receipt." Appellant argues that the Court of Appeals is 'wrong' because Appellant did not raise this as an issue of ethics in her NRED complaint; Appellant simply stated Respondent failed to provide her with a receipt. However, in the context of the NRED complaint, this statement regarding the earnest money receipt was in the middle of a long string of accusations from Appellant that Respondent was unethical and a liar. Thus, the Court of Appeals placed this statement in context and found Appellant failed to show good faith as to this allegation as well.

At page 5, Appellant cites to <u>Stark v. Lackey</u> for the proposition that "an affidavit stating that the defendant believed the communications to be truthful or made them without knowledge of their falsehood is sufficient to meet the

defendant's burden absent contradictory evidence in the record." 136 Nev. 38, 43, 458 P.3d 342, 347 (2020). However, in the instant matter, there is ample "contradictory evidence in the record," including the declarations of Respondent and the nonparty seller of the real property, as well as various items of documentary evidence and communications disputing Appellant's declarations.

At page 5, Appellant also cites to <u>Abrams v. Sanson</u>, 458 P.3d 1062, 1068-9 (2020) for the proposition that "statements of opinion can never be made with knowledge of falsity for purposes of 'good faith' analysis...." However, the Court of Appeals analyzed Appellant's statements and determined they were not statements of opinion but statements of fact, so Appellant's citation to <u>Abrams</u> for this proposition is improper. Additionally, as noted in greater detail below, the Court of Appeals was well within its bailiwick to analyze whether Appellant's statements were of opinion or of fact.

At page 8 of her Petition, Appellant misstates a portion of the district court proceedings, First, Appellant claims Respondent "never rebutted" Appellant's declarations. However, this is completely false. Respondent produced not only his own declaration to rebut Appellant's declaration, but Respondent also produced the declaration of the seller of the property in question, who is not a party to this case,

and not beholden to either party, and who directly contradicted Appellant's statements.² The seller's declaration is proof Appellant lied in her NRED complaint, and thus that Appellant did not bring her NRED complaint in good faith.³

In the middle of page 8, Appellant reaches her main issue with the Court of Appeals's decision: the racism and sexism issue. In making these arguments, Appellant conflates two separate issues: (1) Appellant's argument that perceptions of racism and sexism are opinions and thus not subject to defamation laws versus (2) the Court of Appeals ruling that Appellant's NRED complaint references racist emails and text messages which Appellant never produced. Indeed, at page 9 of its Order, the Court of Appeals states, "[t]here is no evidence in this limited record to indicate that Lazer made any remarks about Williams's race or gender." The Court of Appeals then continues that Appellant "does not provide adequate evidence of these racist and sexist emails or texts, and there is evidence to the contrary." Tellingly, in her declaration to her anti-SLAPP motion in the district court,

²Appellant also makes this same false claim at page 4, footnote 1 of her Petition.

³Beginning at page 29 below, Respondent catalogues various other false statements in Appellant's NRED complaint which show she did not bring her NRED complaint in good faith.

⁴At footnote 6, the Court of Appeals clarifies that Appellant did allege one oral statement, which does not mention Appellant's race or gender.

Appellant does not mention a belief that she possessed racist or sexist texts or emails from Respondent, so she never rehabilitated this falsehood in the district court proceedings. (I-AA 91-5; I-AA 223-5; II-AA 268-75) Thus, the Court of Appeals concludes, the district court was correct in ruling it could not find Appellant made her NRED complaint in good faith.

The distinction is that the Court of Appeals is not just basing its ruling on a finding that Respondent was not racist or sexist. It is basing its ruling on the fact that Appellant claimed Respondent sent her racists and sexist emails and text messages, but Appellant has not produced any such written communication, either in her NRED case or in the instant matter. Thus, her allegation that such emails and texts exist was not truthful.

In attempting to refute the Court of Appeals on this point, Appellant states at page 9 of her Petition that Respondent sent an email to Appellant's loan officer, which Appellant claims could be construed as racist. However, Appellant never produced this email to NRED to support her claims that Respondent is racist and sexist. Additionally, Appellant never referenced this email in any of her declarations from the district court proceedings as proof of Respondent's alleged racist and sexist writings. And, in fact, this email was sent only to Mr. Jolly. (II-

11

AA 382-3) Nothing in the record indicates Appellant knew of or had ever seen this email prior to submitting her NRED complaint, so any implication that Appellant relied on this email is unsupported by the record of this case. Appellant had already sent her text to Respondent accusing him of racism well before Respondent sent the email to Mr. Jolly. (I-AA 51) Accordingly, the email Respondent sent to Appellant's loan officer is completely irrelevant to the Court's inquiry in this matter.

25

26

27

28

To the extent this Court finds Respondent's email to Mr. Jolly relevant, the Appellant's attorneys at page 9 of their Petition - that Respondent is a "shockingly racist" white man - Respondent vehemently denies these accusations. As stated in paragraph 19 of Respondent's declaration attached to both of his district court oppositions, Respondent has dedicated many hours of his life to the cause of equality for all races, sexes, and religions, a passion sparked by his family history which includes family members who were killed in the Holocaust due to their religion. Further, as Respondent stated in the email in question (AA 382), Respondent spent years of his life heading a community service project to deliver food and clothing to low income Black families outside of Detroit, along with speaking to raise funds benefitting Black children. As he was when Appellant

originally accused him of being racist and a sexist, Respondent is deeply hurt by these renewed allegations contained in Appellant's Petition.

3. The Court of Appeals Properly Determined Appellant's NRED Complaint was a Statement of Fact, not Opinion.

Appellant, at pages 10 through 19 of her Petition, continues this barrage of attacks against the Court of Appeals' ruling as to the "racism and sexism" issues. This entire ten page section of Appellant's Petition is aimed at the following six sentences from the Court of Appeals' decision:

Although Williams could possibly have perceived Lazer's alleged comment at the condominium as racist and sexist, her accusation as it is presented on appeal appears to be made as a statement of fact, not opinion. Indeed, the NRED complaint is titled as a "Statement of Fact," so there is no basis for opinion when filing such a complaint with the NRED. Filing a Statement of Fact with the NRED unsurprisingly necessitates making a communication as a statement of fact. Although it is not implausible that a person could file an invalid complaint based only on speculative exaggerations, this is not the case here. In her sworn declaration attached to her anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, Williams states "Never at any time have I doubted the truth of the statements I made At this time, even upon review, I have no doubt as to the veracity of the statements I made[,]" which implies that she believed her statements to be objectively true. Also, her NRED complaint appears to have been meant to have Lazer viewed in contempt by the NRED, which is a statement of fact per Pegasus.

[Internal citations omitted.] If this small section of the Court of Appeals 11 page
Order of Affirmance is completely removed, the result would not change. This
section only discusses the claims of racism and sexism. The preceding sections of
the Order of Affirmance, as stated above, discuss Appellant's allegations in her
NRED complaint that Respondent was unethical, that he lied, and that he withheld

documentation from Appellant. Those claims - which are undisputed statements of fact - were the focus of Respondent's arguments before the Court of Appeals. Thus, even assessing only the pure factual claims, and ignoring the Court of Appeals's discussion of the allegations of racism and sexism, this Court must uphold the Court of Appeals's Order of Affirmance.

In addition, the issue of whether a statement is fact or opinion is a question of law for the court to decide. And the Court of Appeals, in a de novo opinion, determined that Appellant's allegations that Respondent acted in a sexist and racist manner, coupled with Appellant's claims that she had emails and texts to support those allegations, were statements of fact.

The Court of Appeals states at page 9 of its Order of Affirmance that "Williams's claim that the statements in her NRED complaint were mere opinions is unpersuasive." In support of this section of its opinion, the Court of Appeals cites to <u>Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 118 Nev. 706, 57 P.3d 82 (2002).

In <u>Pegasus</u>, the plaintiffs, owners of a restaurant, sued a newspaper because the newspaper published a negative review of the plaintiffs' restaurant. The plaintiffs alleged that there were statements of fact contained in the restaurant review, while the newspaper countered that the review was a statement of opinion.

In resolving this dispute, the Court had to decide whether the restaurant review was 2 a statement of fact or a statement of opinion. The relevant portion of the Court's 3 4 ruling is as follows:

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In determining whether a statement is actionable for the purposes of a defamation suit, the court must ask "whether a reasonable person would be likely to understand the remark as an expression of the source's opinion or as a statement of existing fact." ... However, this court has also stated that comments must be considered in context.

Id. at 715, 88 [Emphasis added]. Thus, in the instant matter, the Court of Appeals was correct to perform an analysis of Appellant's NRED complaint and determine to what extent it was a statement of fact versus a statement of opinion.

The Court of Appeals was also correct in how it performed its analysis. At page 16 of her Petition, Appellant argues, "there is no explanation in the Order as to why Williams's motivations are relevant to the prong one inquiry. A defendant's motivations are completely unrelated to whether a statement is made in 'good faith' under NRS 41.637." Further, at pages 11-12, Appellant argues the Court of Appeals was wrong to consider that the NRED complaint form is entitled, "Statement of Fact." However, Appellant's absolutism regarding analysis of the good faith requirement is at odds with this Court's precedent. As stated in Pegasus, the Court must review the statement "in context" to determine if it is a statement of fact or a statement of opinion. Id. Thus, it was correct for the Court of Appeals to examine

11

12

10

19 20

18

21 22

23 24

25 26

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